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INTRODUCTION

The ©purdosa of this Phasge 14 Seasitivicy Study iz zo ens sha
potential srehistoric acd historiz seasitivicy af ha Zan tor Ima
Development Froject on Block 2433 ia Zlahurss, Queans, Yew Yo chrguzh
the review of existing archival, cartographic and published raferances.
In order to provide a context Ffor evaluating any identified rasources
within the parcel itself, this survey shall include 2 symthesis of
published and wunpublished prehistoric and historic resources Ln the
immediate locality surrounding the project area, This raport has bezn
requested in advance of potential rezoning for the .entira bleck and
expansion of the motor imm.
GEOGRAPHY AND PHYSICAL SETTING

The praject sr2a lies on Bloek 2453 withia c-a Zlzhurst saztiza of
Queens. 3lock 2433 consists of a2 <zoughlw triangular piscs of land
bounded to the north by Queens 3oulevard, to the soutk oy 2lst Avenue and

to the west by Hillyer Street. It currently is subdivided into eight
lots numbered 1, 3, 17, 18, 25, 40, 42 and 44. Lot !l is on the southwest
coraer of the block and houses an automobile repair shop and zascline
station in a one story structure. Lots 42 apd 44 are adjacent to one
another on the northwest cormer of the block and contain three small ome
story structures utilized by a used car dealer. Lot 25 occupies the
triangular eastern end of the block and is aloost completely coverad v
three or four adjacent one and two story structures which house an
automobile repair business, Lots 17 and 18 form an 'L’ shaped plot
ad jacent to lot 25 on its west side. They are completely covered by a
one story structure which also houses an automobila repair shop. The
remainder of the block comsists of lots 3 and 40 which contain the Pan Am
Motor Inn. This section of the block includes nearly 707 of its total
area and the majority of the street frontages along Queens Boulevard and
5lst Avenue. The Pan Am Motor Inm 1is 3 relatively modern seven story
brick and concrete structure fronting Queens Boulevard. The remainder of
lots 3 and 40 house the motor inn's swimming pool and parking lots.
Queens Boulevard, ome of the borough's main arteries, is a large and busy
thoroughfare. In the immediate vicinity of the project area are many
small businesses and private homes. The small streets leadinz to the
project area from the south contain small brick houses. Five blocks to
the north of the project area is Elmhurst's main shopping district. Seae
Figure 1 for the location of the project area.

The project area lies in Long Island, which is within the Arlantic
Coastal Lowland Physiographic Province (Thompson 1966:34). This province
exists within New York State only on Long Island and Staten Island
(ibid:34, 43). long Island's fertile soil is good for the production of
hay and grains. Farmers on Long Island also raise vegetables, potatoes
and fruit.
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Figure 1 lLocation of the project area shown on U.S.C.S. 7.5 minute
series, Brooklyn, New York Quadrangle, 1967 (photorevised
1979).
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PREHISTORIC SENSITIVITY

As part of the project evaluation process, this sensitivity study hea
surveyed published and unpublished sourcas in thes 2 Yaor

5
chives of Hew York
City, the files of the Hew York State Museum Division of Historical and
Anthropological Services, as well as rasources on file at Crsenhouse

Consultants.

Table 1 presents the results of our search for prehistoric sites in the
vicinity of the Pan Am Motor Ian project area. Included in the table are
wo sices located two miles or less frem the sroject area. The locaticas

Y-l
of these sices are presented on Tigure 2 with lattar code identificrs
which corresgond ©o those ia Tabls i, Tze Few York Szats Museuzo

conducted a complets search of their filas for sites within two miles of
the project area. Information on sites withia two miles of the project
area was also obtained from documents on file at Greenhouse Consultants.

The Maspeth Site or Site A, the nearest of the prehistoric sites, is
known primarily through the work of Arthur €. Parker, the former Hew York
State Archaeologist, during the first quarter of this century. This site
is described as a village. The village sits is associated with the name
Maspeth and 1is situated along Maspeth Creek approximately 1.9 milss
southwest of the project area. Unfortunatzly ao detailed descriptions of
artifacts recovered from this site was supplied, so no assessment of a
date range can be wmade {Parkasr 1922). Since the Maspeth site is
described as a village, it therefore may date to the Woodland Period.
This inference is based solely on the general fact that villages were not
a common occupation pattern of the preceding Archaic and Paleo-Indian
Periods. (See Site A in Table ! and Figure 2.)

The second site found during our search is designated 'B' in Table 1l and
Figure 2. This site, known as Saint Michael's Cemetery, is located
approximately 2.0 miles northwest of the project area. It 1is listed in
the prehistoric site files of the MNew York State Museum as a cemetery
although no additional information such as date range is supplied. A
report prepared recently to document a portion of this cemetery was
reviewed as part of this research. This report describes the potential
prehistoric sensitivity of the cemetery and concludes that although the
cemetery location would have been conducive to its use by prehistoric
populations, no evidence exists to confirm St. Michael's Cemetery as a
known prehistoric site. This 1location has definitely been used for
burials since the middle of the 19th century (Geismar 1987), but its
listing in the prehistoric site files of the New York State Museum is
apparently erroneocus,
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TABLE 1: PREHISTORIC SITES IN THE VICINITY OF THE PAN AM MOTOR INN

SITE HAME NYSM# PARKER{# OTHER# REFERENCE .PERIOD(S) DESCRIPTION

A. Maspeth 4536 ACP-QUNS-13 - Parker 1922: 672 Woodland (7) Village

B, St. Michael's Cemetery 5472 - 14 - - Cemetery
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roposed for this term iTCludix ta ace'" derived £from th
Hicmac mespaak™ aeaning Moverflewed b5y  the tide," and “zreat brook™
darivad from the Delsware words "mez:" and "sepe™ {Crumat 1931:23-29},
R.P, Zolton, the esarly twentieth century researcher, places the village

of Maspeth in the territory of thz DRockawav zrous (Boltom 1873:31).
There is considerable 2vidence that the group that occupied this portion

of Queens was Delaware speaking (Grumet 1981:65).

In terms of potential prehistoric sensitivity, the project impact area
was evaluated from two points of view:

1) the proximity of known prehistoric sites in or near the
project area; and

2) the presence of fresh water drainage courses in general,
and particularly the ideatification of river or stream
confluence situations whera (w0 or oore drainages come
tczether, providiaz access I3 Soth warsr aad Zood suppiizs
of both svstens.

This survey has documented the recorded or published 1location of two
sites within a two mile radius of the Pan Am Motor Inn project area.
Although sites have been identified in the general region of the proposed
project impact area, none are known to exist within the project area
itself. No evidence, positive or negative, based on previous survey work
is available. It would be inappropriate, however, to characterize the
area as without prehistoric sensitivity, especially since two streacs
formerly existed within or near the project area. A small unpnamed streaza
ran off to the west of the project area draining into Newtown Creek. A
second stream drained the marshy meadow to the east. This stream was
known as Horsebrook.

These sources of fresh water, although no longer evident, may have been
utilized by prehistoric inhabitants of this region. The project area is
presently nearly level with some relatively elevated soils situated from
approximately 19.8 ¢to 22,3 feet above the Queens Highway datum formerly
ad jacent to the streams. The existence of this elevated land with easy
access to fresh water within the project area, combined with the
knowledge of the one prehistoric site in the vicinity as well as Contact
Period references to occupation inm this region, indicates that the
project area may preserve evidence of prehistoric occupation. Such
evidence would probably consist of a temporary or seasonal huntiag camp,
since these camps often overlook marshes or swamps where game might
obtain food and water.



Seventeenth Centurv

Director-General Kieft of the Dutch Hest India Company purchased a tracs
of land east of Rockaway on Lhe south=ara shore of present-day Hassau
County (Flint 1895:115}., Xisft's land extenied 22 the north as Far as
Hartin Gerretsen's 3ay. This purchase from the anhasset Iadizns was the
first known Zuropean contact with present-day Jueens (ibid.). The Dutch,

however, made no organized settlezment in the region.

English settlers from New Fngland arrived and established the First
colonies in Queens, known as the Eanglish Towns (Flint 1895:116). The
English colonists of Queens accapted Dutch rule (c. 1640) which extended
on Long Island's northern shore as far east as Oyster bay (ibid.:118).
The settlers had to pay a rent of one-tenth of all their fara produce to
the Dutch West India Company each year (ibid.:[31).

Jew Netherland became Znglish in 1564, and all of Long Island including
present-day Queens was lncluded within the administrative district callaed
Yorkshire (Flint 13%6:115-17). Torksalrs was  suocdividzsd insts thras
divisions known as Ridings: West,. East, and Yorth (ibid.:1i17). Tha
township of Newtown, including the present project area, was part of the
West Riding.

Governor Dongan ended the Riding system, and the Colonial Assembly set up
counties (Fliamt 1896:117). In 1683 the colony of New York was divided
into twelve counties with Queens County composed of the ¢townships of
Jamaica, Newtown, Flushing, Oyster Bay, and Hempstead (Hazelton 1925
1:126). The focus of this section is on the township of Hewtown, the
site of present-day Elmhurst and the project area.

In 1642 the New Amsterdam authorities granted Reverend Francis Doughtv,
an immigrant from Massachusetts, and his associates a tract of land at
the head of Mespat Kill, later known as Maspeth Creek or Newtown Creek
(The New York City Historical Records Survey 1940 I:¥). Reverend Doughty
fled New England because of his wunorthodox reliziocus views (Xross
1983:13). The Doughty patent included a large portion of what would
become the town of Newtown as well as the preseant project area (The New
York City Historical Records Survey 1940 TI:V, XVIII). The area was
called Mespat after the Mespathces Indian group. In 1643 during the war
between the Dutch and the Indians, the settlement of Mespat or Maspeth
was destroyed. Two years later the area had recovered enough for
resettlement. Hans Hansen, also known as Hans deBoor, bouzht 400 acres
of land at the head of Mespat Kill (The New York City Historical Records
Survey 1940 I:V; Hazelton 1925 II:934).

In 1652 the English settlers arrived at Middleburg, which later became a
village of Newtown and present-day Elmhurst (Eazelton 1925 II:942). The
first house at Middleburg was built on present-day Queens Boulevard near
Grand Avenue, approximately eight blocks east of the project area
(ibid.). The first Middleburg settlers purchased 1,376 acres from the
Indians at one shilling per acre (Hendrickson 1902:9). This purchase

4



from the Indlans was the sniy zlaim ziz:  zha {iidiabuzg £

their tand, since Dirsccor-General Stu'~vesant 4id aor c =

patent to them (Xross 1983:21). The purchased land e =

Doughtw's 1842 patentr, who had left the area. The Du: a h
£ '

tae
Middleburg sectlement to function uader the provisions of Doughtv's
patent and recognized its status as z village (ibii,:22), 3v the middls
of the 1550s the Middleburz settlement was called Hewtowr as well as
Middleburz (ibid.:21).

One of the iadividuals active 1in the purchase of Middlaburz from the
Indians was an Independent preacher, Reverend John Moore (Chapman
Publishing Company 1896:335). As a result of Moore's active role in the
community, his family was awarded eighty acres of land in Middleburgz.,
The Moore family built a house cn their property whizh today liss
approximately eight blocks northwest of the project area (The Queens
Museum 1976:1).

During the early 1640s the settlers of Hiddleburg supported the Fnzlish
erewn against the Dutch of Yew MNetherland (Onderdonk 1863:3).  Ar ehis
tize the =ngme of the Middlesury settlamen:z was chznged femperarily sz
Hastings (Hendrickson 19G2:11). Following the GZEnzlish capture of Yew

Netherland in 1664, "Newtown", an name already in popular use, became
official (The New York City Historical Records Survey 1940 I:YIII),

In 1667 Governor Nicolls issued a patent for Newtown. Three years later
a Meeting House was erscted on what is today the scuth side of Queens
Boulevard, less than one-half mile east of the project area (New York
City Historical Records Survey 1940 I:VIIT). In 1686 Governor Dongan
confirzed the original Newtown patent of 1567 (Xross 1983:38-41). The
populacion of Newtown by the 1680s was still low. Hazelton (1925 II:93%)
claims a population at this time of ninety families for the entire town.

The areas of heaviest settlement were near English Rills (Mespat or
Maspeth) and along Horsebrook Creek (Newtown Village) (Rross 1983:4).
The fresh and salt meadows were good for both agriculture and pasturage
(ibid.). In the seventeenth century the project area was known as
Smith's Meadow (ibid.:5). This meadow was a fresh water swamp with
streams flowing through it (Innes 1898:3). In 1678 one stream was
diverted into a main ditch and the meadow on each side of it was given to
settlers in two to tenm acre plots (ibid.). According to Innes there was
a road leading from the Hyatt home "along the edge of the upland on the
south side of Smith's Meadow to Middleburz" (1898:7). The road skirted
the meadow which had trees, fields, and pastures im its vicinicy
(ibid,:16).

Eighteenth Century
Newtown experienced some population growth during the last decade of the

seventeenth century and the first decade of the eighteenth. The 1711
Census records 1003 people, including 164 black slaves (Riker 1852:147).
By 1727 the Quaker population increased enocugh for the construction of a
meeting house. By 1733 the influx of Dutch resulted in the building of a

5
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etch Reisrmed Chursh (The Yew Voo listorica:r  Rwcord:s Zurvev 154D
I:XIIZLI)., The population of Yewrown doubizd befors che close 9 rhe
2ighteenth century wich the 1790 Census listing 2111 {Riker 1852:262}.

Along with population zrewth came physizal develozments., In 1703 :he
weens County road sugervisors constructed roads linking Yewtown,
Flushing and Jamaica. They completed fourteen meore by 1722 (Xross

1983:161). The State Lezislature passed a law 1in 1786 requiring that s
certain meadow in ¥ewtown be drained more thoroughly (Longz Island Dailwv
Star 1937:n.p.). The meadow was fad by HYorsebrook Cresk (unnamed at thar
time) and, therefore, could only have been Smith's Meadow. The
legislation came as a result of a petition presented by Charles Roach and
other residents of Newtown to require the owners of the meadow to drain
it on a regular basis.

Newtown was the site of activity during the American Revolution. An
American spy, Caleb 3rewster, ncted a regiment of Highlanders (1779) as
Jamaica with some detachments ar Hewtown Villase (MacMaster 1961:5).
British Major Gerneral Nobertson arrived and left Yewtown wit4out finding
any American troops (Ondardonk 13%3:100). After Robertson had lef:z,
British Generals Clark and Heister (with his Hessians) remained at Newron
for three weeks (ibid:101)., British troops marched and encamped in the
vicinity of Newtown Village, but there is no evidence that they were
within the project area {(see Figure 3). There was an encampment at
Train's Meadow to the nmorthwest of the project area, thus indicating the
kind of terrain favored for temporary settlement, {Onderdonk 1846:133,
Kross 1983:5). The closest point to the project area occupied by British
troops was at the Moore family house, approximately eizht blocks to the
northwest (The Queens Museum 1976:1-5).

Two families, Moore and Gosseline, should be noted in conmection with the
eighteenth century. Riker's map (1852) shows J. J. Moore's property
(including a building) to the immediate north of the project area (see
figure 4). The Moore family, as noted above, had been in the area since
the seventeenth century. It is highly possible, but not certain, that
the Moore family owned the piece of the Smith's Meadow that included the
project area during the eighteenth century (ibid). The Gosseline family
became associated with Newtown Village in 1726, when Jose Gosseline
(Gorsline), a weaver of French or Flemish descent, purchased twenty-one
acres of land (Innes 1898:25). Riker's map (1852) shows Peter Gorsline,
but his property is located to the south of the project area {see Figure
4). There is again, no evidence with respect to the location of the
Gorsline property during the eighteenth century. The only clue to the
possibility of Gorsline's ownership of land on or adjacent to the pro ject
area is the presence of Gorsline Street which runs into the project area
from the south (see Figure 7).

Rineteenth and Twentieth Centuries

Physical development continued ia Newtown throughout the nineteenth
century, particularly in the area of the transportation. The firset
bridge was built in 1801 over the meadow, connecting Newtown with

6
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Flushing (Mansell a2as Co 382:240). Shell fvad, named aftar the zrushed
ovster sneils used in  its construction, was Sulils  in L340, sin bloecks
dortawest of the proiect arza (The Queens Museunm [ 975:3).

The railroad came to Queens County by the middle of the century. The
Flusningz Railroad, joining Flushing with Long Island Citv started in
1352, but it wenr Saankrupt before the end of the decade {Sevfried 1951
ITI:71; Rossand Pelletreau 1903 1I:290). In 1859 the New York and
Flushing Railroad took the place of the defunct Flushing Railroad, and
ten years later the Flushing and North Side Railroad extended the line to
Newtown (Rossand Pelletreau 1503 1:294; see Figure 5). The Newtown and
Flushing Railroad Company began their operations in 1871 and reached
Newtown Village by 1873 (ibid:82; ibid). This line, known as the "White
Line", was discontinued in 1876 because it proved unnecessary (Seyfried
1961 III:199). In 1888 the Port Washington Branch of the Long Island
Railroad reached Newtown Village, where a depot was erected (ibid
VI:231). Along with railroad service to Newtown, one of the town's main
thoroughfares, Thomson Avenue (later Queen's Boulevard) was completed
(1876) (The Dailv Star, Queens 3orough 192%:an.p.). The project area, as
noted above, lies on a piece of land ro the izmadiate scuth f (ueens
3oulevard,

The issue of swamp drainage, important to the eighteenth century, was
raised again during the nineteenth. The State legislature (1824) amended
the 1786 drainage law, thus allowing the extension of the drainage ditch
(Long Island Daily Star 1937: n.p.). It was not wuntil 1884, however,
that a Drainage Commission was appointed for Newtown Village by the
Queens County Judge (ibid). The Drainage Commission worked for ten years
before it was able to cowmplete the project (ibid). The water course of
Horsebrook Creek, originally private property, had o be made publis
property before adequate drainage could be accomplished (ibid).
Throughout Newtown Village's history, therefora Smith's Meadow required
frequent attention in order to alleviate flooding.

Rapid population growth came to Newtown during the second quarter of the
nineteenth century. Ian 1830 Newtown's population was 2610, but by 1850,
it had reached 7,207 (Riker 1852:262). The population explosion
generated a need for housing that was new to this rural area. In 1850
Samuel Lord (who established Lord and Taylor), owner of a larger tract of
land in Newtown Village, built a development of row houses called
Clermont Terrace (New York Herald Tribune 1964:7). The Lord family
retained more than one hundred acres of land until it was purchased by
another developer, Cord Meyer (ibid), During the 1890s Meyer's property
amounted to about 1700 lots in Newtown Village which was still inhabited
b the descendants of the original English and Dutch settlers (ibid). In
1893 Meyer started to build his residential development of one-family
homes (Gray 1954 1I:100). It was mainly because of Cord Meyer that
Newtown Village began to grow into a residential community (Hew York
Times 1985:n.p.).

The name, "Elmhurst", also came into use at this time » Cord Meyer gave
this name to his development in the northern part of Newtown Village
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J.H. Innes describes the vicinity of the project area (Smith's Meadow) as
it was at the close of the ninetsenth century, but the late nineteenth-
century maps offer the most detailed information. Riker's map (1832)
shows Smith's Meadow which includes the project area (see Figure 4). The
meadow 1s bounded by a road to the immediate north, and to che north of
the road 1is the property of J.J. Moore (ibid). The road branches off to
the south, skirting the eastern edge of the meadow (ibid). Property
names and buildings are shown on the eastern side of this road, but thers
is no indication as to the amount of meadow that they owned (ibid). J.7J.
Moore and John Penfold are closest to the project area, but it cannot be
determined from this map whether nor not they owned it {ibid)., Beers'
map (1873) shows the project area at the intersection c¢f Thomson and
Maurice Avenues, but no property names are shown (see Figure 5).
Wolverton's map (1891) shows the Moore property in the immediate vicinity
of the project area, but it is not certain whether or not this trianmgular
plece of lamd was included (see Figure 5). Even at cthe aad of the
nineteenth century Yewtown Yillage (or Slmhurs:t as it was already called
at this cime) scill retained a basically rural character {Ianes 1898:7).
German market gardeners owned some of the old farm houses in Che vicinity
of Smith's Meadow (ibid).

Changes were taking place during the 1890s in the gzoverunment of Queens
County. In 1890 New York State set up a commission to investigate the
advantages and pogsibilities of the consolidation of Queens County with
New York City (Seyfried 1982:39). The Commission presented the State
Legislature with a bill (1894) that put the issue to a popular referendunm
(ibid). The Queens townships (except for Flusniang) voted in favor of the
proposal (ibid). The New York State Legislature passed the consolidation
bill and Govermor Yorton signed it (ibid). In 1897 all of the old Queens
County towns lost the traditional township status that they had for over
two centuries (ibid). All of the local governments within (Queens became
defunct and on January 1, 1898 Queens, Bronx, Brooklyn, Staten Island and
Manhattan all became consolidated into one municipalicy, New York City
(ibid).

The opening of the Queensboro Bridge (1909) and the Long Island Railroad
Tunnel one year later initiated the physical and demographic changes that
altered the character of most of Queens from rural to urban (EHarct,
Krivatsky and Stubee 1967:19). Italians began to settle in Elmhurst,
thus stimulating housing comstruction (ibid). By 1917 the population of
Elmburst reached approximately twenty thousand, and the number of retail
stores, banks schools, churches and clubs rapidly increased (Gray 1954
II:101). Some of the old local names remained, but they were now urban
communities instead of rural villages.

Further demographic changes came to Elmburst when the subway arrived in
the 1930s (Hart,Krivafsky and Stubee 1967:21). More housing was needed
for the Irish, East Europeans and Blacks who were moving to Elmhurst
(ibid). The population of Elmhurst reached forty five thousand by 1941

8
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Figure 7 From Sanborn's 1914 Queens: City of New York.
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Figure 8 From Sanborn's 1932 Queens : City of New York.



and c¢ontinuad to grow afrer World War II (Graw 19354 11,101 Hare
Zrivaisky and Stubae 1667:21), Zlmhvrst rewmainad a 2rimariiv wnize,
ziddle class communicy on Iinte the 1%40s (Hart, Xrivafskv and Scubae

1967:27),

Modern Elmhurst is bounded by the Long Island Expresswav on the south,
the old ¥ew York Connecting Railroad on the west, Roosevelt Avenue on the
north, and Junction 3oulevard on the east (New York Times 1983:n.p.).
The three main thoroughfare, Queens Boulevard, Grand Avenue and Sroadway,
intersect in the center of Elmhurst (ibid). Residences in Elghurst
include one and twe family woodframe and brick houses, as well as low-
rise apartment buildimgs (ibid).

The maps offer the most complete picture of the project area as it was
earlier in the twentieth century. According to the Sanborn Map (1914)),
the project area, on the triangle between Queens Boulevard (Thompson
Avenue) and Maurice Avenue (blocks 1573 and 1574), contained some vacant
lots (se figure 7). The changes that were taking place in Flahurst
during the early parc of this century are reflected in the develccmenc of
the project area. The Sarborn Map (1932) shows scome industrial jrowth in
the vicinity (see Figure 8). Izmediately to the west of the Sroieci area
were a filling staticn and a factory for the preduction of sheet metal
(block 1573) (ibid.). On the eastern edge of the project area there was
another filling station and an "auto laundry™ (block 1574) (ibid.). Tke
project area, itself, was still wvacant (ibid.). Hillver Place and
Gorsline Place were not yet opened (ibid.). The intreduction of the
Queens Boulevard Trolley was probably instrumental in bringing growth to
the area (Norwood 1931: 104-105).

To conclude, Newtown Village begam as a small Zaglish set:tlement and
eventually became an urban community in the borough of Queens. The two
family names associated with the early history of the project area are
Doughty and Moore. Doughty's property included the project area during
the 16403. the Moore family, residing in Newtown Village for over two
centuries, owned land in the immediste vicinity of the project area, but
the maps and the literary sources do not pinpoint the project area within
the Moore family's tract. Smith's Meadow, which included the project
area, was divided among the property owners in its vicinity. The meadow
needed drainage, and it was the responsibility of the owners to do it
regularly. By the late ninetesnth century a Queens County Drainage
Commission had to be appointed for the task. Population growth and
physical development came in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, but
the rural character of Newtown was retained until the early twentieth
century. The introduction of the railroad brought new people into
Newtown during the second half of the nineteenth cenmtury. Housing
construction followed population growth. During the 1890s Queens County
became a borough of New York City and all of the former local governments
became defunct. The name of HNewtown was changed to Elmhurst at this
timeo

Urbanization began in the twentieth century. Transportatiom facilities
brought new residents which, in turn, brcught more housing, businesses,

9



schoois, and churchas, The project area is reflectiva of tha
developmenis in Zlimhurst at thig time. In 1914 zhere wera no ztrucrures
on itz boundaries, but by 1932 a factory and three automobiie service

businesses had appeared to its east and west,

Elmhurst is today a community of private homes, low-rise apartment
houses, and small businesses, People of many national origins make up
the area's population. The project area is at the northern end of two
small residential streets.

ANALYSIS OF SOIL BORINGS

An examination of records on file with the Subsurface Biploration Section
of the Bureau of Building Design, New York City Department of General
Services, indicated that three borings from a group completed within the
course of Queens Boulevard were near to the project area. Although no
borings could be found from within block 2453, these three borings were
all within approximately sixty feet of the northern boundary of the
black. These borings were completed during July 1967 as part of Job 647.
They are numbered 25, 26 and 27. Al]l contaip fill deposits to
approximately ten feet below grade. The fill consisted primarily of
locse brown or grey-brown sand with a little gravel, some clay and traces
of silt, Below this in two cases was a layer of stiff grey clay with
some silt and a trace of fine sand. In the third bering located within
the intersection of Queens Boulevard and Slst Avenue, the layer below the
£i11 consisted of a compact brewn fine ts medium sand with lenses of
gravel, grey clay and silt. These borings were probably sampled every
five feet, 30 the thickness of the £ill deposit could vary by up te three
feet (Subsurface Exploration Section 1967).

The interpretation of the nine to ten foet thick layer just below the
surface asphalt and concrete pavement as fill is consistent with the view
that this location was formerly a marsh. It would have been necessary to
add £ill here te¢ provide a firm base for constructing the streets and

buildings now present,

The block adjacent te the project area to the west, bounded by Queens
Boulevard, Hillyer Street, 518t Avenue and Ireland Street, was the
subject of a smilar archaeological assessment (Historical Perspectives
1988). This report alsc concluded that the area had the potential to
preserve prehistoric archaeclogical resources. Several soil borings
taken from the block indicated that a layer of f£fill, six to eleven feet
thick, had been deposited over the former marsh (ibid.:9). Ristorical
Perspectives recommended a series of additional soil borings for
archaeclogical purposes, These were completed recently and the principal
investigator for the project has concluded that no evidence of
prehistoric use of the land was found (Kearns 1990 pers. comm.).
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CONCLUSICNS AND RECOMMENDAYTIONS

The above t2xt ha: documented that the fan Am Motor Inn Development
Project potentially may preserve archaeclogical evidence from the
prehistoric period. This location is considered sensitive to the
preservation of prehistoric archaeclogical remains because it is
topographically similar to the locations of documented prehistoric sites.
One known site exists within a two mile radius of the project area,
adjacent to a stream, a description which may have characterized the Pan
Am Motor Inn Development site in the past. Although no prehistoric
artifacts have been reported from this location, it is our opinion that
its physical condition would have been conducive to its wuse and/or
“occupation during prehistory, particularly as a temporary camp of the
procurement of game, if evidence could be found to indicate that the
project area was vrelatively high ground near the stream and not
marshland. All the evidence available from soi] borings to the north and
west of the project area strongly suggests that those locaticns are
filled wetlands, Piqure 9, taken from the Final Maps of the Borough of
Queens shows differences of up to five feet between *the topography, lines
Sased on 1904 surveys and the elevations shown within the streets. This
is another indication that £ill has been added hers.

It is also our conclusion that the Pan Am broject area is not sensitive
fo the preservation of histeric archaeclogical evidence. This location
is shown as a2 marsh on the ninetsanth century maps, and no evidence for
any structures is shown on any of the maps or plans examined as part of
this research, prior to its development during the last years of that
century. Examination of three soil boring leogs provided evidence to
support interpretaticn of ‘this locale a3 a former marsh that had
subsequently been filled.

We are recommending that archaeclogical testing of the Pan Am Motor Imm
project area is not necessary. The area is not considered sensitive to
the preservation of historic resources, and no evidence of any
prehistoric occupation or other use of the land could be found in any of
the soi] borings conducted Fn the vicinity.

Acknowledgements,: We would Ilike to thank the local History Division,
the Map Room, the Reference Divigion, and the Photocopy Service of the
New York Public Library; the MNew TYork Historical Scciety, tke Queens
Historical society, the Elmhurst branch of the Queensborough Public
Lidrary for their generous assistances. :

T



/. Joszph Hasg Secrviery of e Bhored of oot et cfipationncat of Be Ly F e Vom0 Bever corty

- - - 48l Nt Mag J a0 IF SE Dese PIgT by & K¢ STECAD Fand smaied Sy We 381 J3are af Extenace md
CITY OF NEwW YORK *;:Vawwm e 1730y af Jone 10 and poraved by the Maor o me 233 dav of Line 190 anptied
Sectian /9 of Fina! Maps af the Barough of Quaans’supeardeg il o Aeewie fieg aves

UfﬂGE ufme‘PHESIDENT {]f thE‘BDHUUGH Uf UUEENS Hr arxs prdvucad sy send mag. it 10 fpr ey :'f‘mgtc:r »y Shangas ther s, ’ ﬂ:?
. . P 0 for e Board o Cximare nd Joportanacey wnger aumoniy &f Be Diareee 22 e Sy o New o,
Topographical Bureau oot st ey dumenty i v an

ZGScalei, Hate Dated Now Yirk Bl s S i

?Eﬂ'm 3 e e ] Tatr e contowrd oo ie . i . ,
Map was aormned w 1904 R o map ncivdes moditicatans raipied sy Mr Sarry of Sepmare Arear togioril [l oA O

Figure 9 From the Final Maps of the Borough of Queens, Section 19, with Project Area
indicated by hatchure.



BI1BLIOGRAPHY

Beoiton, Reginald Pelham

1975 New York City 1in Indian Posgession. Indian MNgotes and
Monographs. Vel. II, #7. Museum of the American Indian Heye

Foundaticon, New York.

Chapman Publishing cCo.
1896 Portrait and Biographical Record of Queens Cougtv. (Long

Igland) New York. New York and Chicago: Chapman Publishing Co.
The Daily Star, Queens Borough. ‘ o
1926 Quaint Newtown Village Already Rich in Historic Lore When Star
Began in '76'. The Daily Star, Queens Borough. March 24,
1626, n,p.

Flint, Martha Bockse

1896 Early Long QSZQBQ: A Ceolopial Study, New York: G.P. Putnam's

Sons.,

Geismar, Joan H.

1587 Documentation of the 3t. Michael's Cemetery Project Site,
Queens; October 1987, New York. On file at N.Y.C. Landmarks
Preservation Commission,

gray, Vincent J,

1954 The Higktory of Elmhurst Post No. 298 American Legion Department
9of New York, Volume 2, Elmhurst, New York: Elmhurst Pest NO.
298 American Legion Department of New York.

Grumet, Robert Steven

1981 Mative American Place Names in New York City. Museum of the
City of New York.

Hart, Robert Lamb, Adam Krivatsky, and William Stubee

1367 Local Area Studv: Jackson Heights, Coropa. Bast Rimhurst,
Elmhurst., New York: Department of City Planning, New York,
N.Y.

Hazelton, Henry Isham

1923 The Boxoughs of Brooklvyn 3nd Queens, Counties of Nassau and
Suffolk, Long Island, New Jork 1609-1924. vVolumes 1 and II,
New York: Lewis Historical Publishing Inc.

Hendrickson, Rev. William H,

1362 A Brief History of the Pirst Preshvterian Church of Newtown,
Long Island. Newtown, New York: Rev. William H. Hendrickson
and the Pirst Presbyterian Church of Newtown, Long Island,

12



|
Historical Perspectives
1988 Boar2 of 2ducation School Site 3, 2ueens Soulevard, Ireland and
Hillyer Streets, Archaeclegical Assessment Report, CEQR 88-
130¢. Riversida, Connacticut.

Innes, J.H.

1898 Ancient Newtown, Pormerly Middleburg. Elmhurst, New York:

Newtown Register,

Kearns, Betsy W.
1990 Personal communication, 20 March 1990,

Kross, Jessics

1983 The Evolution of an Amer;can Town: Newtown. New York, 1642~
1175. FPhiladelphia: Temple University Press.

Long Island Daily star
1937 0ld Horse BRook in Legislative Annals as Par Back as 1786.

Long lsiand Daily star. July 13, 1937, n.p.

MacMaster, Prank J.

1361 mm_canw.mm Q.uma_&u_l._Lu_zouina Har Sites in
Plushing and Jamaica, . Bayside, Hollis. apd

Hhitestons mmnmshofmm_ﬂs City. Plushing,

New York: Frank J, MacMaster and the Borough of Queens,

Munsell, W.W. and Co.
1882 History of Queens cCounty, HNew York, with Illustrations,
Portraits, and sketches of Prominent Pamilies and Indjviduals.

New York: W.W., Munseil and Co.

The New York <City Historical Records Survey Project Division of
Professional and Service Projects

1540 Town Minutes of Newtown 1656-1688., Volume I. New YOrk: The New
York City Historical Records Survey.

New York Genealcgical and Riggraphical Society

1928 Collections of the New Iork Gepealogical and

Sogiety. Volume VIII. New York: New York Genealegical and
Biographical Sociaty. :

New York Herald Tribune
1964 The Elmhursts: Twin Communities of Queens, New York Herald
Tridune. November 8, 1964, pp. 2-7.

New York Times
1985 1£f you're thinking of livirng in Elmhurst New York Times.
August 4, 1985, n.p.

Norwood, C.W.

1931 Norwood's Guide: Pirst and second Words, Oueens Best Street
Directary., Woodside, Hew York: C.H. Norwood.

T a



Onderdank, Henry

18486 Documents and Letters intended to Illustrate the Revoluticpary
Explapnatory Notes, and Additions. New York: Leavitt, Trow and
Company.

1885 Queens County ipn Olden Times. Jamaica, New TYork: Charles
Welling.

Parker, Arthur ¢.

1922 The Archasological History of New York. New York State Museunm -
Bulletin, nos. 235-238.

The Queens Museum

1978 Newtown (Elmhurgt, Queens, New Xg;kl Balking Tour. Elmhurst,

New York: The Queens Museum.

Ricard, Herbert 7.

1945 The Firat Annual Report of the Queens Borough Historian for the
Yeay 1944 with 3 Supplement: The Oriain of Community Names jn
Queens Borough. Jamaica, New York: Queens Berough Bistoerian.

Riker, James Jr.

1852 The Annals of Newtown, in Queens County, New York: Containing
its History Prom jts Pirst Settlement. New York: James Riker,
Jr.

Ross, Peter and William Pelletrean :
1903 & History of Lonq Island Prom its Eagiiest Settlement to the
Eresept Time. Velume I

Seyfried, Vincent F. '
1961 Ihe Long lsland Railroad: A Comprebengive History. Volumes III
and V1, Garden City, New York: Vincent P. Seyfried,

1982 Queens: A Pictorial History., Norfolk, Virginia: Vincent P.
Seyfried and the Donning Company. '
' }

Subsurface Exploration Section

1967 Boring Logs and Location Map, Job 647. On file with the N.1.C.
Dept. of General Services, Bureau of Building Design,
Subsurface Exploration Section.

Thompsen, John H. (ed.)
1966 Geography of New York State. Syracuse: Syracuse University

Press,

14



MAP8 AND ATLASES

Beers, P.W.

1873 Atlas of Long lsland. New York.

Borough of Queens, Topographical Bureau
1940 Pinal Haps of the Borough of Queens, Section 19, dated 1910
with modifications adopted prior to 11 April 1840,

Faden, W.

1776 £ t

Riker, J., Jr. .
1852 Map of Newton, Long Island,

Sanborn Map Co.

1914 Queens: Cityv of New York. Volume 9.

1932 Queens: City of H%g York. Veolume 9,

U.3.G6.5. Topographic Map, 7.5 Minute Series
1967 Brooklvn, New York Quadrangle. Photorevised 1979.

Wolverton, Chester

1891 Atlag of Queens County, Long Island. New York.

s



